**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

MAR 04 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from York County  
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DONALD R. ALTMAN,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2011-196626  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

DAYNE C. PHILLIPS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in refusing to suppress the out-of-court identification of Appellant where the testimony of the State's key witness revealed that the State failed to disclose under *Brady v. Maryland*<sup>1</sup> an inherently suggestive single person photographic "lineup," which denied Appellant his due process right to require the trial court to conduct an *in camera* hearing prior to the witness's testimony pursuant to *Neil v. Biggers*<sup>2</sup>?

---

<sup>1</sup> *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

<sup>2</sup> *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188 (1972).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 19, 2010, Appellant Donald Ray Altman was indicted by York County Grand Jury for shoplifting, third or more property offense. R. 101 – 102. Appellant was again indicted by the York County Grand Jury on July 21, 2011, for four counts of possession of stolen goods and possession of an altered license plate. R. 91 – 100.

On July 25, 2011, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Erik Delaney, and the State was represented by E.B. Springs. R. 1. The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 84, ll. 1-18. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-57 (2010),<sup>3</sup> Judge Hayes sentenced Appellant to: (1) ten years imprisonment on the shoplifting conviction; (2) 10 years imprisonment on all four possession of stolen goods convictions; and (3) five years imprisonment on the possession of an altered license plate conviction. R. 90, ll. 4-9. The shoplifting sentence was to run consecutively to one of the possession of stolen goods sentences, and the other sentences were to run concurrently for a total of twenty years imprisonment. R. 90, ll. 4-9.

This appeal follows.

---

<sup>3</sup> Sentence Enhancement: (1) S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-57 (2010) (Classification of third or subsequent conviction of certain property crimes: “A person convicted of an offense for which the term of imprisonment is contingent upon the value of the property involved must, upon conviction for a third or subsequent offense, be punished as prescribed for a Class E felony”); (2) S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-20 (2010)(A)(5) (“A person convicted of classified offenses, must be imprisoned as follows: for a Class E felony, not more than ten years”).

Property Crimes: (1) S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-123 (2010) (Shoplifting); (2) S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-180 (2010) (Receiving stolen goods).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **Officer Daniel Popov**

At trial, Officer Daniel Popov of the Rock Hill police department recalled that on May 10, 2010, he responded to a shoplifting call at the Family Dollar store and that the vehicle and suspect description given was “a white Ford Taurus with a white male wearing a beige baseball cap.” R. 2, l. 23 – 3, l. 11. Officer Popov stated that he was also given the license plate number of the vehicle. R. 3, ll. 12-14. Officer Popov maintained that while on his way to the Family Dollar store, “[he] passed a white Ford Taurus with a white male driver with a baseball cap, matching the description that was given to us[.]” R. 3, ll. 17-25. Officer Popov further noted that he “saw the vehicle pull into the BP gas station” and that “[he] had some cars in front of [him] so [he] wasn’t able to pull in[to the gas station] right away.” R. 4, ll. 2-7.

Furthermore, Officer Popov claimed that “the male driver of that vehicle was walking into the BP [gas station]” as he pulled “in behind the [suspect’s] car[.]” R. 4, ll. 4-14. Officer Popov admitted, “*I never looked at him [the suspect] face to face,*” but claimed that he “got a passing glance” of the suspect’s face. R. 4, ll. 15-17 (emphasis added). Officer Popov maintained, however, that he was able to later identify the suspect as the owner of the vehicle after accessing Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) records. R. 4, ll. 18-24. Specifically, Officer Popov stated that “[t]he owner of the vehicle appeared to be the subject that I saw driving the vehicle.

Officer Popov noted that he followed the suspect into the gas station and that the suspect was nowhere to be found. R. 5, ll. 2-16. Officer Popov recalled that he then went to the suspect’s vehicle, where he found Brenda Sims “pretty much asleep” in the back of the

car. R. 5, ll. 17-24. Officer Popov also recalled that Sims was wearing “a bracelet on her arm from Piedmont Medical Center and also [had] some discharge papers from Piedmont showing that she had been there sometime that day.” R. 6, ll. 6-10. Officer Popov claimed that Sims “was able to understand our questions and communicate with us[,]” but that “[s]he appeared . . . to be in a drowsy kind of a way, almost like when you just wake up[.]” R. 6, ll. 13-21. Officer Popov also noted that Officer Ryan Thomas arrived at the gas station approximately five minutes later. R. 7, ll. 1-5.

On cross-examination, Officer Popov admitted that Officer Thomas wrote both the incident report and the case summary because “[i]t was his zone of responsibility the call came out to (sic).” R. 7, l. 21 – 9, l. 25. Defense counsel then inquired:

DEFENSE COUNSEL: [It is] your testimony here today fourteen and a half months later, that you checked a [DMV] picture, and that picture appeared to match this individual; is that correct?

OFFICER POPOV: Yes, sir.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. Why is that not anywhere in the General Sessions case file summary that you reviewed in preparation today?

OFFICER POPOV: I don’t know, sir.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Don’t you think that’s something . . . kind of important to this case?

OFFICER POPOV: Maybe.

R. 11, l. 24 – 12, l. 11. Defense counsel further inquired as to Officer Popov’s identification of the suspect:

DEFENSE COUNSEL: That’s all you saw was a white male with a tan cap. Correct?

OFFICER POPOV: That’s what [the case summary] says.

Yes, sir.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: But now fourteen and a half months later, you're coming into court saying that you believe it's my client. Correct?

OFFICER POPOV: Sir, at the time, like I said, I checked through DMV and it appeared to be the subject that was driving the car. Yes, sir.

R. 12, l. 24 – 13, l. 7.

**Officer Ryan Thomas**

Officer Ryan Thomas, formerly of the Rock Hill police department, stated at trial that he also responded to the shoplifting call at the Family Dollar store on May 10, 2010. R. 15, ll. 8-16. Officer Thomas recalled that he spoke to the manager of the Family Dollar store, Michelle Williams, about the shoplifting incident. R. 15, l. 21 – 16, l. 11. Officer Thomas stated that Williams described the shoplifter as a white male with a tan hat and described the “getaway vehicle” as a white Ford Taurus with a South Carolina license plate, number EXU585. R. 16, ll. 12-24.

Officer Thomas claimed that Williams told him she had seen Appellant prior the shoplifting incident. R. 35, ll. 12-16. Defense counsel then asked Officer Thomas why he neglected to note that in the incident report or case summary. R. 35, ll. 17-21. Officer Thomas replied, “*That would be on her word that she had seen [Appellant] before. It's not part of the cause as to what we were looking for.*” R. 35, ll. 22-24 (emphasis added).

Notably, Officer Thomas admitted that he “*never had training on photo lineups*” and *denied* that he conducted a “photo lineup” with Williams. R. 37, l. 10 – 38, l. 4 (emphasis added). Officer Thomas also admitted that, although the Family Dollar store has four surveillance cameras, he *never* viewed the surveillance video or took a copy of the video as

evidence. R. 38, ll. 9-20. Officer Thomas further admitted that there never any attempt to obtain forensic evidence. R. 39, ll. 3-23.

Furthermore, Officer Thomas maintained that Officer Popov had located a white Ford Taurus at a gas station, but that Officer Popov was unable to find the suspect by the time he arrived at the gas station. R. 17, ll. 8-25. Officer Thomas also maintained that the vehicle left by the suspect had an altered license plate and that a white female, Brenda Sims, was in the back seat of the car. R. 18, ll. 1-25. Officer Thomas noted that he subsequently found out Appellant was the owner of the vehicle after checking the registration of the correct license plate number. R. 20, ll. 11-24.

Additionally, Officer Thomas stated that he found packages of beef jerky, flashlights, various tools, and other small items in the vehicle. R. 21, l. 13 – 24, l. 20. Officer Thomas also stated that he suspected the items were stolen because “nearly all of these items had the store’s original stickers on them.” R. 24, l. 14 – 25, l. 3. Officer Thomas then explained how he verified the items were stolen by going to the stores and checking with their inventory systems. R. 25, l. 18 – 32, l. 14. Despite that Officer Thomas admitted he *never* saw the shoplifting suspect, *the State had Officer Thomas identify Appellant to the jury*. R. 32, ll. 15-21 (emphasis added).

**Michelle Williams (Family Dollar Store Manager)**

Williams recalled at trial that on May 10, 2010, she “[saw] someone [a white man] conceal beef jerky in their (sic) pocket” and then leave the store without paying for it. R. 41, ll. 5-21. The State inquired as to whether Williams was able to identify the shoplifter:

THE STATE: And had you ever seen that man before . . . ?

WILLIAMS: *I had not seen him that day*, but I had seen him in prior days before that.

41, l. 22 – 42, l. 1 (emphasis added). Williams then admitted that she did not provide the police with any other description of the shoplifter, except that the shoplifter was a white male wearing a tan hat. R. 45, l. 22 – 46, l. 24. Williams identified Appellant as the shoplifter to the jury. R. 44, ll. 1-4.

Notably, in *direct contradiction* to Officer Thomas’s testimony, Williams testified that Officer Thomas brought her one photo of Appellant the day after the shoplifting incident occurred and that Officer Thomas told her Appellant was the man in the photo. R. 47, l. 2 – 48, l. 4. Williams also testified that the Family Dollar had *four* surveillance cameras in the store and that the police *never* viewed the surveillance footage of the incident. R. 48, ll. 5-18.

#### **Motion for a Directed Verdict & Objection to Out-of-Court Identification**

After the close of the State’s case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict. R. 59, ll. 9-11. Defense counsel argued that Williams’s out-of-court identification of Appellant was unreliable because it was procured by Officer Thomas through an unduly suggestive procedure (i.e., showing a single photograph of Appellant and informing Williams that Appellant is the person in the photograph). R. 59, ll. 9-22. Defense counsel further argued, “[W]ithout [Williams’s] testimony, without that identification, the State doesn’t have any identification.” R. 59, ll. 19-21.

The trial court subsequently found:

*[A] single photo is suggestive, but that would not affect the reliability in this case because the witness had observed the individual in the past. And therefore that even though the showing of the one photograph as suggested on its face that that does not affect in this case [the] reliability of the identification of [Appellant] as the individual who was involved in the act. And I will certainly charge the jury regarding eyewitness identification.*

R. 60, ll. 13-21 (emphasis added). The trial court then denied defense counsel's motion for a directed verdict. R. 61, ll. 6-9. Defense counsel explained to the trial court:

*I did not request to do a Biggers hearing regarding identification before the trial[ because] . . . [a]t that point, the discovery that had been provided to me by the State indicated that there was no identification made by Ms. Williams in this case, either her being able to an out of court identification or that she would use any type of photographs in this case. Obviously we've heard some testimony that would say she did view a photograph the day after the day of the incident.*

R. 61, l. 24 – 62, l. 7 (emphasis added). Defense counsel then “renew[ed] [his] objection to the admissibility of that testimony at this time.” R. 62, ll. 8-10. The Assistant Solicitor admitted that the State *did not* provide defense counsel with a copy of the photograph because the Assistant Solicitor *does not* have a copy of the photograph. R. 62, ll. 18-23.

Despite defense counsel's argument, the trial court reiterated, “*I did put on the record that I believe[d] that the showing of one photograph lineup, so to speak, is suggestive on it's (sic) face. . . . But I found that in spite of that because the witness knew [Appellant] from previous encounters, that he testimony still feels liable (sic) and, of course, that will be up to the jury to determine.*” R. 63, ll. 2-7 (emphasis added).

#### **Donald Altman (Appellant)**

Appellant testified at trial that he is not guilty of shoplifting or receiving stolen goods from the Family Dollar store on May 10, 2010, because he was working as a painter in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. R. 66, ll. 5-16; R. 73, l. 21 – 74, l. 9. Appellant also testified that both his *twin brother* and his younger brother “*look just like [him]*” and that either brother could have done it because “*they're all on crack . . . now.*” R. 66, ll. 12-16 (emphasis added). Appellant further testified that he was not the person driving his car on

May 10, 2010, because he had parked the car at his mother's house when his driver's license was suspended. R. 66, l. 20 – 67, l. 7; R. 70, l. 22 – 72, l. 9.

Furthermore, Appellant testified that he as well as both of his brothers has previously been in a relationship with Brenda Sims. R. 69, ll. 11 – 70, l. 21. Appellant *denied* that he picked Brenda Sims up from the hospital or had any interaction with the manager of the Family Dollar store on May 10, 2010. R. 67, l. 23 – 68, l. 6; R. 73, ll. 15-18. Appellant noted that even though he had previously been in the Family Dollar store with Sims, “[s]o has [his] twin . . . the whole family’s (sic) been in that Family Dollar store.” R. 74, l. 17 – 75, l. 23.

#### **Post-trial**

After the jury found Appellant guilty as charged, defense counsel renewed his trial objections and his motion for a directed verdict. R. 86, l. 24 – 87, l. 4. “Specifically [his] objection that dealt with the photograph that was viewed by Michelle Williams, and the procedure that was used there.” R. 86, ll. 1-3.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to suppress the out-of-court identification of Appellant where the testimony of the State's key witness revealed that the State failed to disclose under *Brady v. Maryland* an inherently suggestive single person photographic "lineup," which denied Appellant his due process right to require the trial court to conduct an *in camera* hearing prior to the witness's testimony pursuant to *Neil v. Biggers*.

At trial, the key witness's testimony revealed that the State failed to disclose under *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) an inherently suggestive single person photographic "lineup," which denied Appellant his due process right to require the trial court to conduct an *in camera* hearing prior to the witness' testimony pursuant to *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188 (1972). R. 41, l. 5 – 48, l. 4. Accordingly, the trial court erred in refusing to suppress the out-of-court identification of Appellant.

**A. The trial court erroneously found that the procedure used by the police to obtain the out-of-court identification was suggestive on its face, but permissible since the witness had seen Appellant on prior occasions.**

In *State v. Liverman*, 398 S.C. 130, 727 S.E.2d 422 (2012), the South Carolina Supreme Court overruled *State v. McLeod*, 260 S.C. 445, 196 S.E.2d 645 (1973), finding due process required a trial court to conduct an *in camera* hearing pursuant to *Neil v. Biggers*<sup>4</sup> to determine the reliability of an eyewitness's out-of-court identification of defendant, regardless of how well the eyewitness knew the defendant. See *Perry v. New Hampshire*, 565 U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S.Ct. 716 (2012) (finding preliminary judicial inquiry is required once it is contended that an identification is obtained under unnecessarily

---

<sup>4</sup> In *Neil v. Biggers*, the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-pronged inquiry to determine whether due process requires suppression of an eyewitness's identification: (1) whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures; and (2) whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. *Id.*, 409 U.S. at 198.

suggestive circumstances arranged by State action, regardless of the witness's prior knowledge of the accused); *see also* Rule 104(c), SCRE (noting “[h]earings on the admissibility of . . . pretrial identifications of an accused shall in all cases be conducted out of the hearing of the jury”).

In this case, the State's key witness, Michelle Williams, the manager of the manager of the Family Dollar store, recalled at trial that on May 10, 2010, she “[saw] someone [a white man] conceal beef jerky in their (sic) pocket” and then leave the store without paying for it. R. 41, ll. 5-21. The State inquired as to whether Williams was able to identify the shoplifter:

THE STATE: And had you ever seen that man before . . . ?

WILLIAMS: *I had not seen him that day*, but I had seen him in prior days before that.

78, l. 22 – 79, l. 1 (emphasis added). Williams then admitted that she did not provide the police with any other description of the shoplifter, except that the shoplifter was a white male wearing a tan hat. R. 45, l. 22 – 46, l. 24. Williams identified Appellant as the shoplifter to the jury. R. 44, ll. 1-4. Notably, in *direct contradiction* to Officer Thomas's testimony, Williams testified that Officer Thomas brought her one photo of Appellant the day after the shoplifting incident occurred and that Officer Thomas told her Appellant was the man in the photo. R. 47, l. 2 – 48, l. 4.

After the close of the State's case, defense counsel argued that Williams's out-of-court identification of Appellant was unreliable because it was procured by Officer Thomas through an unduly suggestive procedure (i.e., showing a single photograph of Appellant and informing Williams that Appellant is the person in the photograph). R. 59, ll. 9-22. Defense counsel further argued, “[W]ithout [Williams's] testimony, without that identification, the

State doesn't have any identification." R. 59, ll. 19-21.

The trial court subsequently found that "*a single photo is suggestive, but that would not affect the reliability in this case because the witness had observed the individual in the past.*" R. 60, ll. 13-16 (emphasis added). Defense counsel explained to the trial court: "*I did not request to do a Biggers hearing regarding identification before the trial[ because] ... [a]t that point, the discovery that had been provided to me by the State indicated that there was no identification made by Ms. Williams in this case . . . .*" R. 61, l. 24 – 62, l. 5 (emphasis added). Defense counsel then "renew[ed] [his] objection to the admissibility of that testimony at this time." R. 62, ll. 8-10. The Assistant Solicitor admitted that the State *did not* provide defense counsel with a copy of the photograph because the Assistant Solicitor *does not* have a copy of the photograph. R. 62, ll. 18-23.

Despite defense counsel's argument, the trial court reiterated, "*I did put on the record that I believe[d] that the showing of one photograph lineup, so to speak, is suggestive on it's (sic) face. . . . But I found that in spite of that because the witness knew [Appellant] from previous encounters, that he testimony still feels liable (sic) and, of course, that will be up to the jury to determine.*" R. 63, ll. 2-7 (emphasis added).

It is clear that the trial court relied upon the ruling set forth in *McLeod*, 260 S.C. 445, 196 S.E.2d 645<sup>5</sup> *overruled by Liverman*, 398 S.C. 130, 727 S.E.2d 422, because the trial court found that the use of a single person photographic "lineup" was suggestive on its face, but permissible based on the witness's belief that she had seen Appellant prior to the shoplifting incident. R. 60, ll. 13-16; R. 63, ll. 2-7. Accordingly, the trial court erred in

---

<sup>5</sup> In *McLeod*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the procedural safeguard of a pretrial hearing to determine the reliability and ultimate admissibility of eyewitness identification testimony was not necessary where the eyewitness knows the accused. *Id.*

refusing to suppress the out-of-court identification of the State's key witness. *See State v. Traylor*, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004) (noting “[a] criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure arranged by police which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification[.]” and finding “[a]n in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.”).

Furthermore, unlike in *Liverman*, 398 S.C. 130, 727 S.E.2d 422, the error was not harmless. *See State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193–94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990) (finding no definite rule of law governs the finding that an error was harmless; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case). This is because not only did the error involve the State's key witness, it denied Appellant his due process right to require the trial court to conduct an *in camera* hearing prior to the witness's testimony pursuant to *Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188. *See State v. Clark*, 315 S.C. 478, 481, 445 S.E.2d 633, 635 (1994) (quoting *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (1986) (finding “the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case.”).

**B. Appellant was denied his fundamental right to a fair trial when the State failed to disclose to Appellant an inherently suggestive single person photographic “lineup.”**

The State's duty to disclose evidence favorable to the defendant is addressed by

the United States Supreme Court in *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). “The suppression by the [State] of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or punishment.” *Brady*, 373 U.S. at 87. Consequently, an individual asserting a *Brady* violation must demonstrate that the evidence: (1) was favorable to the accused; (2) was in the possession of or known by the prosecution; (3) was suppressed by the State; and (4) was material to the accused's guilt or innocence or was impeaching. *See Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 432-42 (1995); *see also State v. Moses*, 390 S.C. 502, 702 S.E.2d 395 (Ct. App. 2010).

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