ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2011-196626

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Donald R. Altman,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAR 15 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court did not err in refusing to suppress the identification of Appellant. Further, the issue is clearly not preserved for review on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err in refusing to suppress the identification of Appellant. Further, the issue is clearly not preserved for review on appeal.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in refusing to suppress the out-of-court identification of Appellant. He maintains the State violated the requirements of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Further, he asserts the out-of-court identification procedure was unduly suggestive and, therefore, not valid. First, the issue is clearly not preserved for review on appeal because Appellant did not make a contemporaneous motion to the identification and never raised an issue related to Brady. Further, on the merits, the failure to turn over a photograph did not constitute a Brady violation and the identification by the victim was very reliable and admissible.

Preservation

In order to preserve an issue for review, there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court. See State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 609 S.E.2d 520 (2005); State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 100, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996) (“Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to contemporaneously object . . ., Appellant is procedurally barred from raising these issues for the first time on appeal.”). A contemporaneous objection requirement enables trial judges to make reasoned decisions by appropriately developing issues by way of argument, both for or against any particular legal proposition. This, in turn, allows potential errors to be prevented or cured.” State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 66, 406 S.E.2d 315, 327 (1991); see also, State v. Garris, 394 S.C. 336, 348, 714 S.E.2d 888, 894-895 (Ct. App. 2011) (finding objection to the testimony after the State rested its case instead

of when testimony actually admitted was insufficient to preserve and issue for the Court's review); State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 609, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 1997) ("Failure to object when the evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to object."). Further, the failure to contemporaneously object cannot be later bootstrapped by another motion. See State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 226, 284 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1981) ("Failure to contemporaneously object . . . cannot be later bootstrapped by a motion for a mistrial.").

At trial, Appellant's counsel cross-examined the victim regarding her identification of Appellant as the one shoplifting from the store. She testified Officer Thomas brought a picture of Appellant for her to identify. The following colloquy occurred:

Q. And the police never came to you, showed you any type of a photo lineup in this case. Right?

A. No, they did. He actually brought a photo to me the next morning.

Q. The police showed you a photo lineup the next morning?

A. A photo picture of him.

Q. not a lineup?

A. No, not a lineup.

Q. They brought you a picture?

A. Yes.

Q. Just one picture?

A. One picture.

....

Q. What officer was that?

A. Thomas.

Q. Officer Thomas. And he, Officer Thomas told you that was Donald Altman. Right?

A. No he didn't. He asked me was that the person. And I told him yes.

(T.84-85; R. 47-48). Appellant never objected after finding out this information. At this time he did not move for a mistrial or ask the court to exclude the identification by the

victim. Instead, Appellant waited until the end of the State's case to raise any issue related to the identification or the photograph which was shown to the victim. As a result, the issue is not preserved for review on appeal because no contemporaneous motion or objection was raised.

Additionally, when Appellant did raise the issue, he did so as a motion for directed verdict. Specifically, he stated:

Your Honor, at this point, we would make our--The State has rested and we would make our motion for a directed verdict in this case. . . . And I would argue to this court that the suggestiveness that took part as far as her being showed a single photograph of Mr. Altman, a day after this alleged incident it would be overly suggestive to obtain her identification of Mr. Altman in this case. And without her testimony, without that identification, the State doesn't have any identification. And I would like to ask, Your Honor, to direct a verdict in favor of the Defense in this case.

(T.96; R. 59).

Appellant, however, failed to properly renew this motion at the end of the defense's case or after the State's reply. Instead indicating no motions when asked by the trial court. (T.120; R.83). In order to preserve the issue raised on appeal, Appellant was required to move for a directed verdict and obtain a ruling by the trial court immediately after the State presented its case and again at the close of the case if Appellant presented any evidence. State v. Rosemond, 348 S.C. 621, 628, 560 S.E.2d 636, 640 (Ct. App. 2002); State v. Bailey, 368 S.C. 39, 626 S.E.2d 898, 900, n. 4 (Ct. App. 2006) (if defendant presents evidence after denial of his directed verdict motion at the close of the State's case, he must make another directed verdict motion at the close of all evidence in order to appeal the sufficiency of the evidence). As a result, the motion for a directed

¹ It should be noted Appellant has not argued error under Rule 5, SCR CrimP. Appellant's brief indicates Officer Thomas told the victim Appellant was the man in the photograph. (App. Br. 9). The testimony in the record clearly belies this assertion. When asked if Officer Thomas told her the picture was of Appellant, the victim specifically testified: "No he didn't. He asked me was that the person. And I told him yes."

Liverman, 398 S.C. 130, 727 S.E.2d 422 (2012). "Generally, the decision to admit an

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v.

Identification

identification of Appellant as the shoplifter.²

clearly not exculpatory because the victim used the photograph to provide an the failure to turn over the photograph did not violate Brady.¹ The photograph was reliable even in light of a single person photograph being shown to the victim. Further, The issue is also without merit. The trial court properly found the identification

Merits

did not object to testimony at trial on the grounds raised on appeal). S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (finding issue not preserved when appellant ground is raised to the trial court and another is raised on appeal); State v. Haselden, 353 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (holding an issue not preserved when one not raise one issue below and argue a different issue on appeal. See State v. Freiburger, must be a contemporaneous objection ruled upon by the trial court). Further, a party may 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (to preserve an issue for review there during discovery. As a result, the issue cannot be raised on appeal. See State v. Johnson, mistrial or to exclude the identification on the basis the photograph was not turned over Finally, Appellant never raised an issue related to Brady. He never moved for a contemporaneous objection, is not preserved for review on appeal. verdict, even if sufficient to raise the issue for the first time without a prior

eyewitness identification is at the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error." State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000) (citing State v. Johnson, 311 S.C. 132, 427 S.E.2d 718 (Ct.App.1993)).

The trial court properly found, even if the procedure used by law enforcement of showing the victim a single photograph was suggestive, the identification was nonetheless reliable because of the victim's prior knowledge of Appellant. "A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure arranged by police which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification." State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004). "An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Liverman, 398 S.C. at ___, 727 S.E.2d at 425-426.

The United States Supreme Court developed a two-prong inquiry to determine the admissibility of an out-of-court identification. Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972). "First, a court must ascertain whether the identification process was unduly suggestive. The court must next decide whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed." State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526-27 (2004) (citing Moore, 343 S.C. at 288, 540 S.E.2d at 448). "Reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony." State v. Blassingame, 338 S.C. 240, 251, 525 S.E.2d 535, 541 (Ct. App. 1999).

In the instant case, the reliability of the identification in this case was clearly such that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Officer Thomas testified the victim “stated to me she was very familiar with him, just minus his name.” (T.72; R. 35). The victim then testified she saw Appellant on prior days in the store. She testified she recognized him when he took the items from the store. (T.78-79; R. 41-42). She indicated she was about 12 feet away from him when he stole the merchandise and left the store. (T.79; R. 42). The victim testified she had seen Appellant in the store “twenty times or so.” (T.118; R.81).

The victim testified to a particular incident where Appellant and the woman found in the car with Appellant entered the store and she asked to go to the restroom. When she went to the restroom, the victim heard the alarm sound because the woman had attempted to exit through the back door. The victim testified: “So at that point on, I knew when they both came into the store, I had to watch them ‘cause nobody every goes out my back door and sounds the alarm. That’s why I distinctly remember who he is.” (T.119; R. 82). She testified there was no doubt in her mind Appellant was the person who stole from the store because she was watching him as soon as he entered. (T.119; R. 82). Accordingly, the trial court correctly found the identification reliable.

Brady

The United States Supreme Court holding in Brady v. Maryland requires disclosure only of evidence that is both favorable to the accused and “material either to guilt or to punishment.” 373 U.S., at 87, 83 S.Ct., at 1196. Defendants making a claim under Brady must demonstrate that 1) the evidence was favorable to the defense; 2) it was in the possession of or known to the prosecution; 3) it was suppressed by the

prosecution; and 4) it was material to guilt or punishment. State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 314-315, 642 S.E.2d 582, 587-588 (2007) (citing Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 524, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999)); State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 452, 503 S.E.2d 214, 219-220 (Ct. App. 1998). “The evidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A ‘reasonable probability’ is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” U.S. v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985).

The evidence in this case, a photograph of Appellant which, according to the victim’s testimony, she used to identify Appellant, was not favorable to the defense. The victim was able to identify Appellant, a person she has known and has seen in the store numerous times, through the photograph. It was not impeaching because in no way did the photograph contradict her statement or identification. As a result, the evidence was not favorable to the defense, and, therefore, the State’s failure to disclose the evidence did not violate Brady.³

Harmless Error

Further any error is entirely harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence in the record and the cumulative nature of the identification. “An error is harmless if the defendant’s guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence, such that no other result could have been reached.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 60, 609 S.E.2d 520, 524 (2005). Further, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d

³ Additionally, it is arguable the evidence was not material because Appellant learned of it and was able to use it in conducting cross-examination of the witness. See Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 453, 503 S.E.2d 214, 220 (finding information is not deemed “material” if the defense discovers the information in time to adequately use it at trial).

445, 448-49 (2003); see also, State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence is harmless).

Officer Popov testified he saw Appellant driving the vehicle which was identified leaving the store. Further, the vehicle contained the items taken from the store in front of the clerk. Finally, he testified he matched Appellant's DMV photo, which he obtained after running the license plate⁴ through the DMV, to the person he saw driving the car. (T.40-42; 50; R. 3-5; 13).

Additionally, Officer Thomas testified the vehicle located with the stolen merchandise belonged to Appellant. (T.57-69; R. 20-32). Further, Officer Thomas identified Appellant in the courtroom without objection. (T.69; R. 32). He testified the victim described Appellant and that she had seen him multiple times before. (T.72; R. 35). As a result, there was ample evidence identifying Appellant as the individual who shoplifted from the convenience store.

⁴ The tag was altered to read EXU585, but the real license plate was FXU535, which was visible on the tag and on the license tag's registration sticker. (T.56-57; R. 19-20). The plate for FXU535 belonged to Appellant. (T.57; R. 20).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.